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1

IN THE DISTRICT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT OF

2

THE STATE OF IDAHO IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF ADA

3
4
5

BRIDGESPAN HEALTH COMPANY,
Certificate of Authority No. 4185
NAIC ID No. 95303

6

Petitioner,

7
8

CASE NO. CV01-18-2382

vs.
MEMORANDUM DECISION ON
PETITION FOR JUDICIAL REVIEW

9
10
11

STATE OF IDAHO, DEPARTMENT OF
INSURANCE,
Respondent.

12
13

INTRODUCTION

14

BridgeSpan is a Utah corporation that services consumers in the individual health

15

insurance market under the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act. BridgeSpan’s first

16

Idaho individual market policies were effective as of January 1, 2014. The Exchange is Idaho’s
voluntary health insurance marketplace, created pursuant to an act of the Legislature, and

17

carriers offering products in the individual market have the option to sell “qualified health

18

plans” via the Exchange. Under federal law, carriers offering products on the Exchange must

19

allow consumers to purchase such products off the Exchange.

20

Beginning in 2015, BridgeSpan argues that it filed its products with the Idaho
Department of Insurance (“DOI”) as being available both on- and off-Exchange, in accordance

21

with guidance from the US Department of Health and Human Services (“HHS”); however, no
22

consumers elected to purchase BridgeSpan products off the Exchange.

23

In early 2017, BridgeSpan made the decision to decertify its plans from the Exchange

24

and move exclusively to an off-Exchange distribution model. On May 12, 2017, BridgeSpan

25
26

representatives informed the DOI that BridgeSpan intended to decertify its products from the
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1

Exchange. That same date, BridgeSpan filed proposed 2018 plan documents with the DOI
through the System for Electronic Rates & Forms Filing (“SERFF”) and informed both the

2
3

Exchange and Governor C.L. “Butch” Otter of its decision to decertify. On May 15, BridgeSpan
representatives again met with the DOI to discuss Exchange decertification.
During these initial discussions, the DOI asserted that BridgeSpan’s 2018 plans and

4
5

decision to decertify from the Exchange would trigger a five-year exclusion penalty under Idaho
Code section 41-5207. Idaho Code section 41-5207 generally states that individual health plans

6

are renewable at the option of the individual, unless an exception applies. On June 14, 2017, the
7

DOI served BridgeSpan with a Notice of Disapproval letter stating that BridgeSpan’s 2018

8

filings would be disapproved if no modifications were made to address the requirements of

9

Idaho Code section 41-5207. On June 19, 2019, the DOI lodged an objection in SERFF

10

referencing the Notice of Disapproval letter and informing BridgeSpan again that its 2018
filings would be disapproved unless changes were made to address Idaho’s guaranteed renewal

11
12

statutes. On July 18, 2017, the DOI lodged a second objection in SERFF; however, no
agreement could be reached between BridgeSpan and the DOI to resolve those objections.

13

On July 25, 2017, the DOI issued an Order to Show Cause and Notice of Hearing

14

directing BridgeSpan to appear and show cause why it should not be prohibited from writing

15

new business in the individual market in Idaho for a period of five years under Idaho Code
section 41-5207. The Order referred to DOI’s Motion for an Order to Show Cause, which

16

proposed the penalties against BridgeSpan based on its “notice of its intent to not renew the

17

individual benefit plans that it offers on the Your Health Idaho exchange (‘the Exchange’),

18

which equates to nonrenewal of all of its health benefit plans delivered to individuals in the

19

State.”

20

On August 15, 2017, BridgeSpan filed its Answer and Pre-Hearing Brief, asserting that
federal guaranteed renewability rules at 45 C.F.R. § 147.106 preempt Idaho Code section 41-

21

5207 and require BridgeSpan to give current enrollees the opportunity to renew coverage off the

22

Exchange. BridgeSpan also argued that its proposed 2018 individual market plans met the

23

Uniform Modification Rules. The Director of DOI conducted a hearing on the Order to Show

24

Cause over four days: August 25, 2017; September 7, 2017; September 18, 2017; and October

25
26

MEMORANDUM DECISION ON PETITION FOR JUDICIAL REVIEW - Page 2

1

23, 2017. BridgeSpan presented its case-in-chief on the first day, August 25, 2017. The DOI
presented its evidence on each of the three following days.

2

On January 8, 2018, the Director issued a Decision and Order prohibiting BridgeSpan

3

from writing any new business in the individual health insurance market in Idaho for five years

4

beginning May 12, 2017. The Director concluded that: (1) BridgeSpan’s 2018 filings constituted

5

an election to nonrenew all of its individual health benefit plans under Idaho Code section 415207(1)(f); and, (2) BridgeSpan’s plans did not meet the “safe harbor” established by the federal

6

guaranteed renewability rules. On February 5, 2018, BridgeSpan timely filed a petition for
7
8
9
10

judicial review of the Director’s decision.
STANDARD OF REVIEW
Judicial review of an agency action is governed by the Idaho Administrative Procedure
Act (“IDAPA”). I.C. § 67-5270(1). The IDAPA requires a reviewing court to “affirm the agency
action unless the court finds that the agency’s findings, inferences, conclusions, or decisions are:

11

(a) in violation of constitutional or statutory provisions; (b) in excess of the statutory authority

12

of the agency; (c) made upon unlawful procedure; (d) not supported by substantial evidence on

13

the record as a whole; or (e) arbitrary, capricious or an abuse of discretion.” I.C. § 67-5279(3).

14

The petitioner has the burden of showing that the board erred in a manner specified in Idaho

15

Code section 67-5279(3) and that a substantial right of the petitioner has been prejudiced. I.C. §
67-5279(4); Barron v. Idaho Dep’t of Water Res., 135 Idaho 414, 417, 18 P.3d 219 (2001).

16

The “Court will not substitute its judgment for that of the board regarding the weight of

17

the evidence on questions of fact.” Wohrle v. Kootenai Cty., 147 Idaho 267, 274, 207 P.3d 998,

18

1005 (2009); I.C. § 67-5279. “A reviewing court defers to the agency’s findings of fact unless

19

they are clearly erroneous, and the agency’s factual determinations are binding on the reviewing

20

court, even when there is conflicting evidence before the agency, so long as the determinations
are supported by substantial competent evidence in the record.” Idaho Ground Water Assoc. v.

21

Idaho Dep’t of Water Res., 160 Idaho 119, 125, 369 P.3d 897, 903 (2016), reh’g denied (May 9,

22

2016) (internal quotations omitted). “Discretionary decisions of an agency shall be affirmed if

23

the agency (1) perceived the issue in question as discretionary, (2) acted within the outer limits

24

of its discretion and consistently with the legal standards applicable to the available choices, and
(3) reached its own decision through an exercise of reason.” Id.

25
26
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ANALYSIS

1

BridgeSpan argues that this Court should vacate the Director’s Decision and Order for
2

three reasons: (1) the Director failed to recognize that the federal guaranteed renewability and

3

Uniform Modification Rules preempt application of the narrower state guaranteed renewability

4

rules at Idaho Code section 41-5207; (2) the Director’s determination that BridgeSpan’s 2018

5

plan changes did not meet two of the federal Uniform Modification Rules is contrary to law and
arbitrary and capricious; and, (3) the DOI violated BridgeSpan’s procedural due process rights

6

by failing to provide pre-hearing notice of the statutory basis of its exclusion.
7

A. Federal Preemption

8

BridgeSpan argues that the Director made it clear that his Decision and Order rested on

9

his interpretation of Idaho Code section 41-5207, and that the Director failed to recognize the

10

full scope and effect of federal preemption by the Uniform Modification Rules in 45 C.F.R. §
147.106(e)(3). BridgeSpan concludes:

11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19

Accordingly, the Director’s analysis of the interaction between Idaho Code § 415207 and the Uniform Modification Rules misses the fundamental point that,
whether or not BridgeSpan’s particular plan changes comply with Idaho Code §
41-5207, the outcome turns exclusively on BridgeSpan’s compliance with the
Uniform Modification Rules. Stated another way, if BridgeSpan’s proposed 2018
filings do comply with the Uniform Modification Rules, then federal law requires
Idaho to make BridgeSpan’s 2018 products available for renewal on an offExchange basis, and the Director’s lengthy discussion of whether year-over-year
changes to BridgeSpan’s 2018 plans constitute nonrenewals under Idaho Code §
41-5207 (R. 324-26) is moot; if BridgeSpan’s proposed 2018 plans do not
comply with the Uniform Modification Rules, then federal law would require the
DOI to deem the BridgeSpan’s plans terminated, regardless of whether the plan
changes otherwise fail to comply with Idaho Code § 41-5207. In short, the
Director’s reliance on Idaho Code § 41-5207 at all is misplaced.
BridgeSpan’s argument is without merit. In his Decision and Order, the Director clearly

20

presented his analysis as to how and why the DOI determined that BridgeSpan was not offering

21

the same plans for renewal and an analysis of how and why BridgeSpan’s new plans were not

22

“Uniform Modifications” pursuant to 45 C.F.R. § 147.106(e)(3). The Decision and Order
contains an entire section titled: “Do the federal guaranteed renewability and uniform

23

modification rules preempt Idaho’s guaranteed renewability statute?” The Decision and Order
24

provides in relevant part:

25
26
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4
5
6

The federal rule provides that a modification made by a health carrier
pursuant to a requirement of applicable federal or state law is a modification of
the same product. 79 F.R. 30248. However, as in the instant case, where a health
carrier makes a modification not mandated by federal or state law, such change
would be considered an EUMC only if the product meets the criteria identified
above under 45 C.F.R. § 147.106(e)(3). See, 79 F.R. 30248.
The issue then is whether BridgeSpan’s 2018 individual health benefit
plans are compliant with the EUMC rule, thereby conceding to BridgeSpan a
“safe harbor” from the guaranteed renewability of coverage mandate under
federal law. See, 45 C.F.R. § 147.106(e)(3).
(emphasis original). The Director clearly recognized the preemptive nature of the federal

7

guaranteed renewability and uniform modification rules and conducted his analysis accordingly.
8

The DOI has not attempted to argue that the Director’s decision may be upheld under Idaho

9

Code section 41-5207 regardless of whether BridgeSpan complied with the Uniform

10

Modification Rules in 45 C.F.R. § 147.106(e)(3), thus, for the purposes of this appeal,

11

BridgeSpan’s argument that the Director failed to somehow expressly acknowledge that the
federal regulations completely preempt Idaho Code is moot.

12

B. The Director’s analysis under the Uniform Modification Rules.
13

BridgeSpan argues that the Director’s determination that BridgeSpan’s 2018 plan

14

changes did not meet two of the federal Uniform Modification Rules is contrary to law and

15

arbitrary and capricious. The Director concluded that BridgeSpan’s plan changes did not comply

16

with two of the five Uniform Modification Rules criteria. Specifically, the Director concluded
that: (1) BridgeSpan’s proposed 2018 products do not have the same product network type; and,

17
18

(2) the proposed plans do not have the same cost-sharing structure.
a. Product Network Type

19

In his Decision and Order, the Director determined that BridgeSpan’s new plan offerings

20

did not meet the requirements for a uniform modification exception under 45 C.F.R. §

21

147.106(e)(3)(ii), which provides: “The product is offered as the same product network type (for
example, health maintenance organization, preferred provider organization, exclusive provider

22
23
24

organization, point of service, or indemnity).” The Decision and Order provides in full:
A review of the product network type will be examined at the product
level. A “product’ is defined by federal rules as

25

[a] discrete package of health insurance coverage benefits that are
offered using a particular product network type (such as health

26
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1
2

maintenance organization [HMO], preferred provider organization
[PPO], exclusive provider organization [EPO], point of service, or
indemnity) within a service area.
45 C.F.R. § 144.103 (underscore here).

3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26

In 2017, BridgeSpan offered a product identified as HIOS Product No.
5971D009 with five plans, identified as follows:
59765ID0090001
597 65ID0090002
597 65ID0090003
597 65ID0090004
597 65ID0090005

Silver HDHP 3000
Bronze HDHP 6000
Gold Essential 1200
Silver Essential 4000
EPO Bronze Essential 7150

Exhibit F. All five plans are identified by BridgeSpan as a "preferred provider
organization" type of plan. Id. BridgeSpan claims all five plans were available
off and on the Exchange; albeit for years 2014 through 2017, BridgeSpan failed
to file any off-Exchange individual health benefit policy forms or applications
with the Department as required. Id. See, Tr. 279:7-19; 282:18-283:11. Under
Idaho law, no policy forms or applications may be delivered or issued for
delivery in the state of Idaho, unless such forms or applications are first filed
with the Department. Section 41-1812(1), Idaho Code.
In its 2018 filings, the four plans offered by BridgeSpan-and asserted by
BridgeSpan to be the same as four of the above-listed 2017 plans (with one
exception, namely the "Gold Essential 1200)-are identified in title as "exclusive
provider organization" ("EPO") plans. Exhibit E. As previously stated above, the
federal website, HealthCare.gov identifies an EPO as a type of managed care
plan where, except in cases of emergency, services are covered only if an insured
uses the providers, specialists, and hospitals in the plan's network. A true EPO
has no out-of-network benefit. Tr. 100:6-10. Idaho recognizes three product
network types, as provided under Idaho Code, including an "indemnity" type,
where there is no provider network, a preferred provider organization or PPO,
and a managed care organization. Tr. 356:1-7. Idaho law requires managed care
plans to cover all or a portion of the cost of out of network services. See, section
41-3905(3), Idaho Code. Tr. 87:16-25.
BridgeSpan's 2017 filings show the plans to be a PPO product network
type. Exhibit F. In its 2018 filings, BridgeSpan identified its proposed plans as an
EPO product network type. See, Exhibits C, D. and E. Yet, at hearing,
BridgeSpan identified the 2018 filings as a PPO product network type. Tr. 123:730; 137:17-18. BridgeSpan argues that identifying the various types of plans,
including PPO and EPO, is a challenge under Idaho law. Tr. 107:18-25; 108:2125; 109:1-4; 110:1-8. It is partly that muddled interpretation and lack of clarity,
as revealed in the record surrounding its 2018 filings, which leads the Director to
conclude that the BridgeSpan 2018 filings are not the same product network type
as the 2017 plans.
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4
5
6

The 2018 filings include a change in out-of-network cost-sharing
coinsurance from 50% for 2017 to 90% for 2018. In addition, for 2018,
BridgeSpan changed its network from a "preferred network" to a "Medical
Neighborhood" network. Tr. 90: 24-25; 91:1-4. This change added a subnetwork
or selection feature. Tr. 84: 9-16.
The Director finds there is a significant change in the product network
type, as the 2018 plans more closely resemble a managed care product type than
any other product type contemplated under Idaho law. Therefore, BridgeSpan’s
2018 filings fail to satisfy romanette (ii) of the EUMC at 45 C.F.R.
147.106(e)(3).
BridgeSpan argues that this conclusion is: (1) contrary to law because it directly

7

conflicts with the clear statutory definition of “nonmanaged care”; and, (2) the conclusion is
8

arbitrary and capricious because it unreasonably relies on evidence that the Legislature did not

9

intend it to consider in making distinctions between network types. Specifically, BridgeSpan

10

argues that the director’s definition of “managed care” is contrary to Idaho Code section 41-

11
12
13
14

3903(15), which provides:
A person holding a license to transact disability insurance offering a health plan
that creates financial incentives to use contracting providers may elect to file the
plan as a nonmanaged care plan not subject to the provisions of this chapter if the
health plan reimburses providers solely on a fee for service basis and does not
require the selection of a primary care provider.
I.C. § 41-3903(15). BridgeSpan contends that the Director erred in concluding that

15

BridgeSpan’s plans were more like “managed care” plans because BridgeSpan’s plans allow for

16

Medical Neighborhoods in which there are multiple medical providers and there is no

17

requirement that a person select a Primary Care Physician (PCP). Thus, BridgeSpan argues that

18

the Director’s decision is contrary to Idaho statute and the definition of “nonmanaged care”

19

contained in Idaho Code section 41-3903(15). BridgeSpan is incorrect.
The Court notes that BridgeSpan’s primary argument on appeal is misleading.

20

Throughout its briefing and during oral argument BridgeSpan continuously referred to the

21

“definition of ‘nonmanaged care’ contained in Idaho’s Insurance Code.” However, that

22

argument relies on a selective and inaccurate interpretation of the Idaho Code. Idaho Code

23

section 41-3903(15) provides a definition of “managed care plan,” not “nonmanaged care.” The

24

full text of Idaho Code section 41-3903 provides:

25

“Managed care plan” means a contract of coverage given to an individual,
family or group of covered individuals pursuant to which a member is

26
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3
4
5
6
7

entitled to receive a defined set of health care benefits through an organized
system of health care providers in exchange for defined consideration and
which requires the member to use, or creates financial incentives for the
member to use, health care providers owned, managed, employed by or
under contract with the managed care organization. A person holding a
license to transact disability insurance offering a health plan that creates
financial incentives to use contracting providers may elect to file the plan as a
nonmanaged care plan not subject to the provisions of this chapter if the health
plan reimburses providers solely on a fee for service basis and does not require
the selection of a primary care provider. The election to file a health plan as a
nonmanaged care plan shall be made in writing at the time the plan is filed with
the director pursuant to chapter 18, title 41, Idaho Code.
I.C. § 41-3903(15) (emphasis added). In fact, BridgeSpan’s 2018 plans that contain a Medical

8

Neighborhood Network appear to fit the definition of a “managed care plan” quite well. What

9

BridgeSpan has selectively chosen to argue by quoting only the middle portion of Idaho Code

10

section 41-3903(15) is an exception that may apply to “managed care plans” by which a

11

provider that offers “managed care plans” may elect to file its plan as a “nonmanaged care plan”
if two criteria are met. Idaho Code section 41-3903(15) does not contain a definition of a

12

“nonmanaged care plan.” As such, the Court cannot find that the Director’s conclusion was
13

contrary to Idaho statute.

14

Next, BridgeSpan argues that the Directors decision was arbitrary and capricious

15

because it unreasonably relies on evidence that the Legislature did not intend it to consider in

16

making distinctions between network types. BridgeSpan contends that: (1) there was conflicting
evidence in the record as to whether the DOI gave BridgeSpan flexibility to categorize its 2018

17
18

plans for consumers as EPOs vs PPOs; and, (2) that the Director improperly relied on the
definition of EPO found on the healthcare.gov website. BridgeSpan is incorrect.

19

“A reviewing court defers to the agency’s findings of fact unless they are clearly

20

erroneous, and the agency’s factual determinations are binding on the reviewing court, even

21

when there is conflicting evidence before the agency, so long as the determinations are
supported by substantial competent evidence in the record.” Idaho Ground Water Assoc., 160

22

Idaho at 125, 369 P.3d at 903, reh’g denied (May 9, 2016). While BridgeSpan may argue that

23

the evidence in the record did not support the Director’s decision, this Court will not overturn an

24

agency’s factual findings unless those determinations are not supported by substantial

25

competent evidence in the record.

26
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1

As noted by the DOI, the Director’s findings were made after thorough consideration of
four days of testimony, over a thousand pages of documentation, after which the Director

2

concluded that BridgeSpan’s Medical Neighborhood Network: (1) added a selection element

3

where none existed before; (2) reduced the choice of primary care providers from 3,085 in 2017

4

to 1,097 in 2018; and, (3) dramatically changed the out-of-network costs-share from 50% to

5

90%. The Decision and Order provides extensive citation to the evidence considered and relied
upon by the Director.

6

Thus, the Court concludes that substantial competent evidence in the record supports the
7

Director’s determination that BridgeSpan’s 2018 filings more closely resemble a managed care

8

product, rather than any other product network type recognized under Idaho law, and that

9

BridgeSpan’s 2018 filings fail to satisfy romanette (ii) of the EUMC at 45 C.F.R. 147.106(e)(3).
b. Cost-Sharing Structure

10

In his Decision and Order, the Director determined that BridgeSpan’s new plan offerings
11

did not meet the requirements for a uniform modification exception under 45 C.F.R. §

12

147.106(e)(3)(iv), which provides: “Within the product, each plan has the same cost-sharing

13

structure as before the modification, except for any variation in cost-sharing solely related to

14

changes in cost and utilization of medical care, or to maintain the same metal tier level

15

described in sections 1302(d) and (e) of the Affordable Care Act.” The Decision and Order
provides:

16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23

The cost-sharing structure consists of the deductible, coinsurance, copayments, and out-of-pocket maximums and, when taken together, is a
mechanism to allocate the cost of the medical service between the insurer and the
consumer. Burwell, 185 F.Supp. 3d at 171. See, Tr. 141:1-9. While the federal
renewability statute has been interpreted at the product level, "in accordance with
[HHS] definitions of 'product' and 'plan,' [HHS] note[s] that cost-sharing applies
at the plan level." 79 F.R.30251. The term "plan" means:
With respect to a product, the pairing of the health insurance
coverage benefits under the product with the particular costsharing structure, provider network, and service area. The product
comprises all plans offered with those characteristics and the
combination of the service areas for all plans offered within a
product constitutes the total service area of the product

25

45 C.F.R. § 144.103 (underscore here). To be the same product, each plan within
the product must have the same cost-sharing structure as before the modification,
"except for any variation in cost-sharing solely related to change in cost and

26
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1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15

utilization of medical care, or to maintain the same metal tier level .... " 45 C.F.R.
§ 147.106(e)(3)(iv). In the instant case, in its 2018 filings, BridgeSpan modified
the cost-sharing structure by significantly increasing the out-of-pocket
percentage home by the insured for out-of-network providers from 50% to 90%.
Exhibit D. Tr. 116-117; 150:19-151:1. BridgeSpan claims this modification in
the out-of-network cost-sharing structure lacks actuarial significance. Tr. 145:918. The Department's witness acknowledged that the actuarial value of a plan is
not impacted by out-of-network benefits. Tr. 535:16-25. The overall purpose of
the modification appears to be to cover additional costs or to discourage
enrollment. The Department notes, however, that the modification is a strong
incentive for the healthcare consumer to stay in-network. The Department also
claims the modification is not an inflationary necessity, but a move toward an
exclusive provider organization that has no out-of-network benefits. Tr. 262:425.
With regard to the issue of cost-sharing structure modifications, CMS, the
responsible oversight agency at the federal level, stated that CMS will defer to a
state's "reasonable interpretation" of 45 C.F.R. § 147.106(e)(3)(iv). See, CMS
Bulletin, dated June 15, 2015, "Uniform Modification and Plan/Product
Withdrawal FAQ," p. 3. The increase in percentage from 50% to 90% out-ofnetwork cost-sharing coinsurance is substantial and unreasonable. See, 79 F.R.
30251. In addition, BridgeSpan increased the out-of-pocket maximums in all four
of its 2018 plans. Therefore, the Director finds that the cost-sharing structure in
BridgeSpan's 2018 filings is not the same as provided in its pre-2018 filings as
defined under the term "Plan" in 45 C.F.R. § 144.103, in accord with 45 C.F.R. §
147.106. In sum, BridgeSpan's 2018 filings fail to satisfy romanette (iv) of the
EUMC at 45 C.F.R. 147.106(e)(3).
BridgeSpan argues that the Director’s analysis of BridgeSpan’s cost-sharing structure is

16

arbitrary and capricious because the decision represents a significant and unexplained departure

17

from prior DOI practice. BridgeSpan contends that the DOI’s witness, Mr. Trexler,

18

acknowledged in testimony that the DOI has allowed other carriers to make significant changes

19

to out-of-network copayments, deductible, and out-of-pocket maximums without invoking the
Uniform Modification Rules.

20
21
22

Q: There actually have been pretty significant changes within a cost-sharing
structure in prior years without drawing objection from the Department of
Insurance; haven’t there?

23

A: I don’t recall the full objections that have been submitted in prior years. There
were changes—substantial changes in cost-sharing in prior years.

24

Q: Between 2016 and 2017 Select health (inaudible) Silver made some pretty
dramatic changes within a cost-share structure; is that correct?

25

A: Between ’16 and ’17 for Select Health?

26
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Q: Correct.
A: That is my understanding. That they did make changes to their cost-sharing
structure as well.
Q: And did the Department of Insurance object to those?
A: I would have [to] pull up the record. I don’t have the record.

4
5

Q: In the past isn’t it true that the Department of Insurance simply hasn’t
considered changes in out of network co-payments, deductibles, and out of pocket
maximums material to a plan’s cost-sharing structure?

6

A: I don’t think we have taken that position.

7

Q: Let me ask my question again. I’m not sure you responded. Isn’t it true that the
Department of Insurance simply hasn’t considered changes in out of network copayments, deductibles, and out of pocket maximums material to a plan’s costsharing structure?

8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16

A: I can’t say that that is accurate, no. I think it depends on the changes they
propose. And there have been some large changes. I agree.
Tr. Vol. III, pp. 541-42. BridgeSpan points to Idaho case law for the proposition that:
Because regulatory bodies perform legislative as well as judicial functions in
their proceedings, they are not so rigorously bound by the doctrine of stare
decisis that they must decide all future cases in the same way as they have
decided similar cases in the past. If, however, the [Agency] decides a case in a
manner contrary to prior [Agency] rulings the Court will consider whether the
[Agency] has adequately explained the departure from prior rulings so that a
reviewing court can determine that the decisions are not arbitrary and capricious.
Rosebud Enterprises, Inc. v. Idaho Pub. Utilities Comm'n, 128 Idaho 609, 618, 917 P.2d 766,
775 (1996) (internal citations omitted). BridgeSpan concludes that DOI has not, until now,

17

considered cost-sharing for out-of-network services material to a plan’s cost-sharing structure;

18

therefore, the Director’s decision is arbitrary and capricious. BridgeSpan’s arguments are

19

unpersuasive.

20
21

Whether or not the DOI has previously considered cost-sharing for out-of-network
services material to a plan’s cost-share structure is immaterial to the analysis of whether
BridgeSpan’s 2018 plans constitute a uniform modification exception under 45 C.F.R. §

22

147.106(e)(3)(iv). The Director’s analysis correctly notes that: “The cost-sharing structure

23

consists of the deductible, coinsurance, co-payments, and out-of-pocket maximums and, when

24

taken together, is a mechanism to allocate the cost of the medical service between the insurer

25

and the consumer. Burwell, 185 F.Supp. 3d at 171.” The standard to determine what constitutes

26
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1

a change in a product’s cost-sharing structure is laid out in 45 C.F.R. § 147.106(e)(3)(iv), which
provides that only “variation in cost-sharing solely related to changes in cost and utilization of

2

medical care, or to maintain the same metal tier level” are allowed. The Director based his

3

conclusion on testimony from both BridgeSpan and the DOI that the modification in the out-of-

4

network cost-sharing structure lacked any actuarial significance and that the modification was

5

not an inflationary necessity, nor necessary to maintain the same metal tier level, but more
aligned with a move toward an exclusive provider organization that has no out-of-network

6

benefits.
7

Further, BridgeSpan’s contention that the DOI has not previously considered cost-

8

sharing for out-of-network services material to a plan’s cost-sharing structure is not supported

9

by the record. At best, the testimony provided by Mr. Trexler indicates that there have been

10

some “substantial” and “large” changes in out of network co-payments, deductibles, and out of
pocket maximums submitted to the DOI by other health insurance provides; however, nothing in

11

the record indicates what “substantial” or “large” means in a practical sense. There are no

12

records for the Court to consider showing if those “substantial” or “large” changes were

13

necessary in response to the inflation of medical costs, or to maintain the same metal tier level

14

as provided for under the uniform modification rules. Simply put, BridgeSpan has not shown

15

that the DOI has decided a case in a manner contrary to its prior rulings. Rosebud Enterprises,
Inc., 128 Idaho at 618, 917 P.2d at 775. Thus, the Court cannot find that the Director’s

16
17
18
19
20

determination that BridgeSpan’s new plan offerings did not meet the requirements for a uniform
modification exception under 45 C.F.R. § 147.106(e)(3)(iv) was arbitrary and capacious.
C. Procedural Due Process
BridgeSpan argues that the DOI violated BridgeSpan’s procedural due process rights by
failing to provide pre-hearing notice of the statutory basis of its exclusion. BridgeSpan contends
that the DOI did not provide BridgeSpan any pre-hearing notice that: (1) cost-sharing structure

21
22
23
24

or product type would be specific issues in this proceeding, or, (2) DOI considered such issues
dispositive to its nonrenewal determination. BridgeSpan contends:
Although BridgeSpan raised the issue of “uniform modification” as a
defense in its prehearing brief, BridgeSpan had no expectation that its defense
would convert the hearing into an examination of BridgeSpan’s minor year-overyear plan changes. It expected, as did Mr. Trexler, that this proceeding would

25
26
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1
2
3
4
5

focus on whether plan decertification from the Exchange was a complete market
withdrawal.
BridgeSpan’s procedural due process arguments are without merit.
Idaho Codes section 67-5242 provides the notice requirement in an agency action:
(1) In a contested case, all parties shall receive notice that shall include:
(a) a statement of the time, place, and nature of the hearing;
(b) a statement of the legal authority under which the hearing is to be held; and
(c) a short and plain statement of the matters asserted or the issues involved.

6

I.C. § 67-5242. The DOI’s Motion for an Order to Show Cause and Memorandum in Support

7

Therof provides:

8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16

Pursuant to Idaho Code § 41-5207(1)(f), if an individual carrier elects to
nonrenew all of its health benefit plans delivered or issued for delivery to
individuals in the State, the carrier must provide notice to the Director at least
three working days (3) in advance of notice to affected individual and must
provide notice to a carrier that elects to nonrenew all of its individual health
benefit plans is thereafter prohibited from writing new business in Idaho’s
individual market for a period of five (5) years from the date of notice to the
Director. See Idaho Code 41-5207(2).
Approximately, nineteen thousand four hundred fifty-two (19,452) Idaho
residents are enrolled in health benefit plans offered by RESPONDENT through
the Exchange. RESPONDENT has no enrollees in health benefit plans offExchange. (Aff. of Trexler, P.2, ¶4.) RESPONDENT’s enrollees through the
Exchange constitute all of its business in the individual market in the State. (Aff.
of Trexler, P.2, ¶4.) Respondent currently does no other insurance business in the
State.

22

On May 12, 2017, RESPONDENT filed its 2018 health benefit plan
forms (“2018 Filings”) with the Department. (Aff. of Trexler, P.2, ¶5.) The 2018
Filings list new forms offered by RESPONDENT for sale and enrollment offExchange and no forms that would be offered through the Exchange, including
no renewals of existing policies. (Aff. of Trexler, P.3, ¶7.) The new forms
offered off-Exchange described in the 2018 Filings do not equate to any
health benefit plans in which the RESPONDENT currently has enrollees.
(Aff. of Trexler, P.3, ¶¶ 7and 8.) Individuals currently enrolled with
RESPONDENT will not be able to renew their existing policies as the existing
policy forms were not part of RESPONDENT’s 2018 Filings. (Aff. of Trexler,
P.3, ¶¶ 7 and 8.)

23

(emphasis added). BridgeSpan’s contention is disproven by the record. “Procedural due process

17
18
19
20
21

24

requires some process to ensure that the individual is not arbitrarily deprived of his or her rights
in violation of the state or federal constitutions. This requirement is met when the defendant is

25
26
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1

provided with notice and an opportunity to be heard. The opportunity to be heard must occur at
a meaningful time and in a meaningful manner in order to satisfy the due process requirement.”

2
3

Neighbors for a Healthy Gold Fork v. Valley Cty., 145 Idaho 121, 127, 176 P.3d 126, 132
(2007) (internal citations omitted). As noted by DOI:
It is ironic that BridgeSpan now claims a violation of its procedural Due
Process rights based on failure to receive notice that its own defense and the
evidence presented in support thereof would be weighed and considered by the
Director in his final Decision and Order.

4
5
6

The Court agrees. BridgeSpan received notice that its changes to its filings for the 2018 plans

7

were at issue. BridgeSpan was also provided with a meaningful hearing that lasted four days

8

and BridgeSpan was given the opportunity to present evidence and testimony. BridgeSpan

9

called four witnesses to testify on its behalf. The hearing itself took place over a two-month

10

period, during which BridgeSpan was allowed to supplement its exhibits, and cross-examine the
DOI’s witness. Thus, the Court cannot find that BridgeSpan’s procedural due process rights

11

were violated. 1

12

D. Idaho Code section 41-6105(2)(c)(ii)

13

BridgeSpan argues that the Director’s decision to exclude BridgeSpan from the

14

individual market for five years is contrary to Idaho law because it penalizes BridgeSpan for its

15

decision not to participate in the Exchange in violation of Idaho Code section 41-6105(2)(c)(ii).
BridgeSpan’s argument is without merit.

16

Idaho Code section 41-6105(2)(c)(ii) provides:

17

Neither the exchange nor any agency of the state of Idaho shall require any
person to use or participate in the exchange, nor have the authority to impose
upon or collect from a person any penalty for failure or refusal to participate in
the exchange or to purchase a health benefit plan or stand-alone dental plan.

18
19
20
1

21
22
23
24
25
26

BridgeSpan also argues that the DOI’s disparate treatment of Regence Blue Shield of Idaho (“RBSI”)
demonstrates that the DOI’s legal analysis was arbitrary and capricious and that BridgeSpan’s due process
violations were prejudicial; however, BridgeSpan’s arguments are not supported by any authority. BridgeSpan
complains that it was not treated in a similar manner to RBSI because RBSI was allowed to negotiate changes to its
2018 offered plans through SERFF and BridgeSpan had to participate in a Show Cause Hearing; however,
BridgeSpan has not presented any evidence or authority showing that the DOI was required to process
BridgeSpan’s plan negotiations through the SERFF program, or that somehow, the Show Cause Hearing did not
present BridgeSpan with notice or a meaningful opportunity to be heard. Further, the record shows that the DOI
filed two objections through the SERFF program prior to sending BridgeSpan notice of the Show Cause Hearing
but did not receive satisfactory responses from BridgeSpan. Thus, the record indicates that both RBSI and
BridgeSpan were given the opportunity to resolve the issue through SERFF.
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1

I.C. § 41-6105. A plain reading of the statute provides that Idaho shall not require anyone to
participate in the Exchange. However, the five year penalty statute at issue is not specific to the

2
3
4
5
6

Exchange, rather it relates to Idaho’s Guaranteed Renewability Statutes. Idaho Code section 415207(2) provides:
An individual carrier that elects not to renew a health benefit plan under the
provisions of subsection (1)(f) of this section shall be prohibited from writing
new business in the individual market in this state for a period of five (5) years
from the date of notice to the director.
I.C. § 41-5207(2). Despite BridgeSpan’s repeated attempts to frame the issue as the DOI

7

determining that BridgeSpan’s exit from the Exchange was the only issue considered in its

8

determination the BridgeSpan had elected not to renew its health benefit plans in 2018, that is

9

simply not the case. The Decision and Order provides a reasoned analysis of how and why

10

BridgeSpan’s 2018 health plan offers were not the same plans BridgeSpan had offered in 2017.
Thus, BridgeSpan’s argument is without merit.

11
12
13
14
15
16
17

E. Costs on Appeal
Both parties request attorney fees pursuant to Idaho Code section 12-117, which
provides:
Unless otherwise provided by statute, in any proceeding involving as adverse
parties a state agency or a political subdivision and a person, the state agency,
political subdivision or the court hearing the proceeding, including on appeal,
shall award the prevailing party reasonable attorney’s fees, witness fees and other
reasonable expenses, if it finds that the nonprevailing party acted without a
reasonable basis in fact or law.
I.C. § 12-117(1). Based on the above, the DOI is the prevailing party on appeal. However,

18

BridgeSpan did not act without a reasonable basis in fact or law. BridgeSpan presented an

19

argument based on reasonable statutory interpretation of the federal uniform modification rules

20

in good faith; thus, the Court does not award attorney fees.

21

CONCLUSION
The Director’s Decision and Order is AFFIRMED.

22
23
24

Signed: 10/11/2018 02:12 PM

DATED this _____ day of __________, 2018.
____________________________
Michael J. Reardon, District Judge
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